
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

      April 4, 2023 9:00 am 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Paulette Chavers  
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 
 
A) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing April 2023 as Child Abuse Prevention 

Month.  
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 03-21-2023 Council Minutes 
b) 03-21-2023 Executive Session Minutes 

 
B) Consideration of a motion for approval of surplus and disposition of a 2006 Chevrolet 

Impala in the Planning & Development Department. 
 

 
6. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 

in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a):  
Blue Mile Wine & Spirits 
12 Brannen Street 
License Type: Package Sales Beer, Wine, and Distilled Spirits 
  

7. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 
in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a):  

A) AMC Statesboro 12 
991 Lovett Road 
License Type: Restaurant 

 
B) Blue Mile Pizza  

408 South Main Street 
License Type: Restaurant 

 
8. Consideration of a motion execute a Professional Services Agreement with Hussy, Gay, 

Bell Engineering Inc. in the amount not to exceed $40,320.00 to provide design, bid, 
grant application  and contract administration services for the extension of sanitary sewer 
service inside of Bruce Yawn Commerce Park to serve Aspen Aerogels. To be paid for 
with Grant Proceeds and System Revenues. 



 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to execute a Professional Services Agreement with Hussy, 
Gay, Bell Engineering, Inc. in the amount not to exceed $93,870.00 to provide design, 
bid, easement acquisition services and contract administration services for the extension 
of sanitary sewer service to the Ramble Road Subdivision. To be paid for with ARPA 
funds approved in CIP Project #32-E. 

 
10. Consideration of a motion to approve selection of Goodwin Mills Cawood and authorize 

the city manager to negotiate a contract with Bulloch County for the Statesboro-Bulloch 
County Long Range Transportation Plan to be paid with TSPLOST funds. Final contract 
to be approved by city council at a later date. 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to approve the purchase of a 2023 Ford Explorer for the 
Statesboro Fire Department, for an amount not to exceed $55,000.00  

 
12. Other Business from City Council 
 
13.  City Managers Comments 
 
14. Public Comments (General) 

 
15. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

16. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 
city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA 

 
 

Child Abuse Prevention Month 
 

WHEREAS:  Children are critical to Georgia’s future success, prosperity, and quality of life.  While 
children are our most valuable resource, they are also our most vulnerable.  Children have 
a right to be safe and an opportunity to thrive, learn, and grow in an environment that 
fosters healthy development; and     

WHEREAS:  Child abuse and neglect can be prevented by supporting and strengthening Georgia’s 
families, thus preventing the far-reaching effects of maltreatment and providing the 
opportunity for children to develop healthy, trusting family bonds, and consequently, 
building the foundations of communities; and  

WHEREAS: Effectively intervening in the lives of children threatened by abuse is a shared 
responsibility, and Georgia’s citizens must come together so that the voices of our children 
are heard by all.  We all must ensure that our communities are extending helping hands to 
children and families in need; and  

WHEREAS: Effective child abuse prevention strategies succeed because of partnerships created among 
citizens, human service agencies, schools, faith communities, health care providers, civic 
organizations, law enforcement agencies, and the business community; and  

WHEREAS: By providing a safe and nurturing environment for our children, free of violence, abuse 
and neglect, we can ensure that Georgia’s children will grow to their full potential as the 
next generation of leaders, helping to secure the future of this state and nation; 

   

NOW, THEREFORE I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro do hereby 
proclaim April 2023, as    

 

Child Abuse Prevention Month 
 
In the City of Statesboro, and urge families and communities to become involved in 
protecting Georgia’s children. 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the City of 
Statesboro to be affixed this 4th day of April in the year two thousand and twenty-three.  

 
               
 

 
 ______________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor  



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

MARCH 21, 2023 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      5:30 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Councilmember Phil Boyum gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 
A) Presentation of a retirement award to Kevin L Span (Chief Wastewater Treatment Plant 

Operator) who is retiring effective April 1, 2023 after 30 years of service.  
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar presented a retirement award to Kevin L. Span after 30 years of service to the City 
of Statesboro. 
 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 
 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 03-07-2023 Council Minutes 
B) Consideration of a motion for approval of surplus and disposition of equipment in the 

Public Works & Engineering Department 
C) Consideration of a motion to acknowledge Council receipt of annexation petition by 

Bel Air Estates, Inc. for 36.55 acres of property located on Beasley Road (Tax Parcel# 
Ms91000013 000) and to direct City Clerk to investigate and certify the sufficiency of 
the petition filed.  



2 
 

A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve APPLICATION AN 23-02-04: S&K 
Investments of GA LLC, requests annexation by the 100% method of approximately 1.72 acres 
of property located at 3101 Old Register Road (Tax parcel # 076 000001 012). 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve APPLICATION RZ 23-02-05: S&K 
Investments if GA LLC, requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-40 (Single Family Residential) 
zoning district to the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district on approximately 1.72 acres of property 
in order to construct a commercial development at 3101 Old Register Road (Tax Parcel # 076 000001 
012) 

 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar announced at agenda Items 6 and 7 will be combined. 
  
A Motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
John Dotson with Maxwell Reddick spoke on behalf of the applicant in favor of both requests. 
No one spoke against either request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

3 
 

A Motion was made to approve APPLICATION AN 23-02-04: S&K Investments of GA LLC, an annexation by the 
100% method of approximately 1.72 acres of property located at 3101 Old Register Road (Tax parcel # 076 000001 012) 
and APPLICATION RZ 23-02-05: S&K Investments if GA LLC, Zoning Map Amendment from the R-40 (Single 
Family Residential) zoning district to the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district on approximately 1.72 acres of 
property in order to construct a commercial development at 3101 Old Register Road (Tax Parcel # 076 000001 012) 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve APPLICATION CUV 23-02-06: 
Vernon Howard requests a Conditional Use Variance on a 0.28 acre property in order to 
establish a recovery home at 378 Johnson Street (Tax Parcel # MS40 000030 000). 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Thomas Howell spoke on behalf of the applicant in favor of the request.  
No one spoke against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



4 
 

A Motion was made to approve APPLICATION CUV 23-02-06: Vernon Howard requests a Conditional Use Variance 
on a 0.28 acre property in order to establish a recovery home at 378 Johnson Street (Tax Parcel # MS40 000030 000).  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

9. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a):  
         Blue Mile Catering 
          454 South Main Street 
          Statesboro, Ga 30458 
          License type: Low volume 
 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

5 
 

A Motion was made to approve application for an alcohol license in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol 
ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a):  
          Blue Mile Catering 
          454 South Main Street 
          Statesboro, Ga 30458 
          License type: Low volume 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

10. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a):   
            Gokul 2023 INC DBA Sparker 
            3348 Northside Dr. West                 
            Statesboro, Ga 30458 
            License type: Package sales - beer and wine only 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



6 
 

A Motion was made to approve application for an alcohol license in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol 
ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a):   
            Gokul 2023 INC DBA Sparker 
            3348 Northside Dr. West                 
            Statesboro, Ga 30458 
            License type: Package sales - beer and wine only 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-16: A Resolution requesting approval 
to apply for assistance to firefighters - fire prevention and safety grant for the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia. 

 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2023-16: A Resolution requesting approval to apply for assistance to 
firefighters - fire prevention and safety grant for the City of Statesboro, Georgia.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

12. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-17: A Resolution amending the job 
position classification and compensation plan to classify the Fire Apparatus Operator to 
Administrative Captain-FD. 
 

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2023-17: A Resolution amending the job position classification and 
compensation plan to classify the Fire Apparatus Operator to Administrative Captain-FD.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

7 
 

13. Consideration of a motion to approve the Statesboro Fire Department to sell 3 fire apparatus 
and other equipment in the amount of $90,000 to the Emanuel Fire Department 

 
A motion was made to approve the Statesboro Fire Department to sell 3 fire apparatus and other equipment in the amount 
of $90,000 to the Emanuel Fire Department   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

14. Other Business from City Council:  
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr gave an update on the FerstReaders fundraiser stating that today is the last day to vote. Each 
vote is $3.00 which buys a book for a Bulloch County child.  
 

15. City Managers Comments 
City manager Charles Penny stated that the transit system is getting closer to starting up in Statesboro. The buses have 
arrived and are being wrapped. One has been completed so far with three more to follow.  
Mr. Penny notified the Mayor and City Council that the precinct where individuals go to vote at the old William James 
is being recommended to be relocated to Luetta Moore Park.  Before the change can take place the city will run an ad in 
the paper for two consecutive weeks about the proposed relocation. The relocation recommendation will then be placed 
on the agenda of the second meeting in April for consideration.  
  

16. Public Comments (General): None 
Marshall Webster, Jay Braswell, Michael Mull, and Randall Moon signed up to speak before the Mayor and City Council. 
They each voiced their opposition to the placement of the recently approved historical marker by the Statesboro-Bulloch 
Remembrance Coalition sponsored by the Equal Justice Initiative.   
 
Sue Palmer signed up to speak before the Mayor and City Council. Ms. Palmer spoke about a piece of property owned 
by MBRE Holding LLC located at 97 Lee Street stating it is deteriorating. There is a big mud puddle out front and cars 
sitting in the yard. This is not the image we want to project.  
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” in 
accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b). 

 
At 6:27 pm a motion was made to enter into Executive Session.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



8 
 

At 6:56 pm a motion was made to exit Executive Session.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting back to order with no action taken in Executive Session.  
 
A Motion was made to appoint Pat Homer to the Statesboro Tree Board and to appoint Lakesha Hill, Caitlin Brady, 
LaShai Campbell, Kristina Patterson and Debbie Vives to the Statesboro Youth Commission for a two year term and to 
appoint Grace Brack, Shay Paulk, Michelle Lammers, and Blake Robinson the Statesboro Youth Commission for a one 
year term and to appoint India James to the Statesboro Youth Commission as an ex-officio member.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr announced the extension of the Tree Board application process until March 31, 2023.  
 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:57 pm. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 





CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 

From: Tax Department 

Date: 3/24/2023 

RE: Blue Mile Wine & Spirits

Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 

No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 

Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person & District: Venus Mack, District 3 

Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 

























CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 

From: Tax Department 

Date: 3/23/2023 

RE: AMC Statesboro 12

Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 

No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 

Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person & District: Shari Barr, District 5 

Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 





















AMC STATESBORO 12 
991 LOVETT ROAD 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Elizabeth 
Burns 

Approve  

Fire Department Justin 
Taylor 

Approve  

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approve  

Legal Cain Smith Approve  

    

 
 



CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 

From: Tax Department 

Date: 3/24/2023 

RE: Blue Mile Pizza

Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 

No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 

Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person & District: Venus Mack, District 3 

Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 

















Blue Mile Pizza 
408 South Main St 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved Applicant meets requirements for the 
proximity map 02-28-2023. Applicant also 
meets zoning regulations (HOC) 

Fire Department Andrew 
Cheney 

Approved  

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approved  

Legal Cain Smith Approve  

    

 
 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Jason Boyles 
     Assistant City Manager 
   
From: Steve Hotchkiss 
          Director of Public Utilities 
 
Date: 3/27/23 
 
RE: Professional Services Agreement Hussy, Gay, Gay, Bell Engineering Inc. for 
Bruce Yawn Commerce Park (Aspen Aerogels) 
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing  
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion execute a Professional Services 
Agreement with Hussy, Gay, Bell Engineering Inc. in the amount not to exceed 
$40,320.00 to provide design, bid, grant application  and contract 
administration services for the extension of sanitary sewer service inside of Bruce 
Yawn Commerce Park to serve Aspen Aerogels. To be paid for with Grant 
Proceeds and System Revenues 
 
Background:  The intent of the project is to extend water and sewer service 
within the Development Authority of Bulloch County’s Bruce Yawn Commerce 
Park at the southeast quadrant of I-16 and US Hwy 301. The project will extend 
approximately 3,000 LF of 12-inch gravity sewer and 3,000 LF of 12-inch water 
main to provide utility service to Aspen Aerogels new plant location. The 
estimated cost of this project is $1,548,500.00 and the engineering fees are well 
in line for a project of this size.  
 
Budget Impact: Funding for this project will come from Grant Proceeds, System 
Revenues and contributions from Aspen Aerogels.  
 
Attachments: HGB Proposal. 
 

 

 City of Statesboro 
Public Utilities Department  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 



 

 

March 23, 2023 

 
 
Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 
Director of Public Works 
City of Statesboro 
P.O. Box 348 
Statesboro, GA 30459 
 
RE: Proposal for Professional Services for the Utilities to Aspen Aerogels 

 Bruce Yawn Commerce Park 

 
Dear Mr. Hotchkiss: 
 
We are pleased to present this proposal for professional services for the subject project.  The 
intent of the project is to provide water and sanitary sewer service to Aspen Aerogels at the 
Bruce Yawn Commerce Park (formerly known as the Southern Gateway Commerce Park).  
 
Our fee for each scope of work is as follows: 
 
A.  SURVEYING SERVICES 

Hussey Gay Bell will use the survey data provided by the Development Authority of 
Bulloch County. Surveying services are not included in this proposal. 

 

B. WETLAND SERVICES 
Wetlands are not expected to be impacted by this project. Wetland delineation and 
permitting are not included in this proposal. 

 
C. PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING REPORT 

Hussey Gay Bell will prepare a Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) for the project to 
assist in obtaining grant funds for the project. 
 

 LUMP SUM FEE $  3,500.00 

 

D.  DESIGN SERVICES 
 Hussey Gay Bell will prepare Construction Plans and Specifications for the proposed 

extension of the water main and gravity sewer along the proposed route to serve Aspen 
Aerogels. Design will include all necessary civil, mechanical and electrical drawings and 
associated specifications.  

 
 LUMP SUM FEE $  8,785.00 

 

 

 



Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 
City of Statesboro 
March 23, 2023 
Page 2 
 

  

E.  PERMITTING SERVICES 
 Permitting services are not expected to be required for this project. Permitting services 

are not included in this proposal.   
 

F. BIDDING SERVICES 
Hussey Gay Bell will prepare bid packages necessary for contractor bidding of the 
project. Hussey Gay Bell will assist in preparing a project advertisement, the distribution 
of bid documents, attending a pre-bid meeting, preparing addenda to respond to bidder 
questions, attending a bid opening, analyzing the bids received and a recommendation of 
award for the project.   
 
LUMP SUM FEE $ 6,500.00 

 
G. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 

Hussey Gay Bell’s construction administration services as needed on an hourly basis 
including contract preparation, attending a homeowners public meeting, attending a pre-
construction meeting, responding to Requests for Information (RFI’s), reviewing pay 
requests, reviewing shop drawings and preparing change orders, if necessary.  

  
HOURLY NOT-TO-EXCEED FEE $ 22,000.00 

 
H. PROJECT CLOSE-OUT AND RECORD DRAWINGS 
 HGB will complete project close-out documentation and provide record drawings for the 

project. 
 

LUMP SUM FEE $ 3,000.00 

 
The scope of services covered by this proposal does not include geotechnical or environmental 
services which are not expected to be required for this project. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 
City of Statesboro 
March 23, 2023 
Page 3 
 

  

You will be billed each month for our services and for any reimbursable expenses as defined in 
the General Conditions. Invoices will be payable within 30 days of invoice date. This 
Agreement, along with the General Conditions, the Schedule of Hourly Rates and the Schedule 
of Reimbursable Expenses constitutes the entire contract between you and this firm and may 
only be modified by a written change order signed by both parties. Thank you for this 
opportunity to serve you.  
 
Sincerely, 
HUSSEY, GAY, BELL & DEYOUNG, INC. 
 
 
 
C.J. Chance, P.E. 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
 
ACCEPTED BY:_____________________________________DATE:________________ 
 
NAME AND TITLE:__________________________________ 
 
Attachments: General Conditions 
 Schedule of Hourly Rates 
 Schedule of Reimbursable Expenses 
 



GC 1 of 6                                     
                                                                  
                                                                      
                                                  GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
These GENERAL CONDITIONS are attached to and made a part of the Letter Agreement dated 

 between CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA (Client) and HUSSEY, 
GAY, BELL & DEYOUNG, INC. (Engineer) and pertain to the project described therein. 
 
1.     CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES. 
 
1.1   The Client shall make available access by the Engineer to public and private property as 
is required to perform such investigations as are appropriate to obtain data for development of 
the Project. 
 
1.2   The Client shall designate in writing a Representative for the work under this Agreement.  
The Client's Representative shall have complete authority to transmit the Client's instructions, 
policy and decisions pertaining to the project. 
 
1.3   The Client shall furnish, in writing, any limitations in the overall project budget.  This 
information shall be furnished at the beginning of the project. 
 
2.     ENGINEER'S RESPONSIBILITIES. 
 
2.1   Services performed by the Engineer under this agreement will be performed in a manner 
consistent with the standard of care exercised by other members of the profession currently 
engaged in similar work in the area and practicing under similar conditions.  No representation, 
either expressed or implied, or no guarantee or warranty is included or intended in this 
agreement. 
 
2.2   Based on the mutually accepted program of work and Project budget requirements, the 
Engineer will prepare, for approval by the Client, documents consisting of drawings and other 
documents appropriate for the Project, and shall also submit to the Client, if part of the Scope of 
Work,  a Statement of Probable Cost for the Project.  The Engineer will make every reasonable 
effort to perform services to accommodate the Client's budgetary limitations pertaining to total 
project construction cost.  However, such limitations will not be cause or reason to require the 
Engineer to furnish any product or instrument of service that is not consistent with the standard 
of care as described in Article 2.1. 
 
2.3    A change in scope of work, after the start of work, may influence the fees and the 
schedule as stated in this proposal.  Delay in providing information requested and/or review of 
documents in a reasonable amount of time is a change in the scope of work.  The Client will be 
notified, as soon as reasonably possible, when a change order has occurred.  The notification will 
include cost and design schedule impact.  The fee for changes in the scope of work will be per 
Article 3, Additional Services, in the General Conditions. 
 

March 23, 2023



GC 2 of 6                                     
3.     ADDITIONAL SERVICES. 
 
3.1  Additional services will be provided upon written agreement signed by both parties.  
Additional services shall be paid for by the Client as provided in these General Conditions in 
addition to the compensation for the services described in the Letter Agreement.  The following 
services, if not described in the Letter Agreement, shall be considered Additional Services: 
                                                                                                              
3.1.1  Providing a program study for the Project. 
 
3.1.2  Providing financial feasibility or other special studies. 
 
3.1.3  Providing planning  surveys,  site  evaluation, environmental studies or comparative 
studies of prospective sites, and preparing special surveys, studies and submissions, required for 
approvals of governmental authorities or others having jurisdiction over the Project. 
 
3.1.4  Providing coordination of Work performed by separate contractors or by the Client's own 
forces. 
 
3.1.5  Making revisions in Drawings, Specifications or other documents when such revisions 
are inconsistent with written approvals or instructions previously given, are required by the 
enactment or revision of codes, laws or regulations subsequent to the preparation of such docu-
ments or are due to other causes not solely within the control of the Engineer. 
 
3.1.6  Preparing to serve or serving as an expert witness in connection with any public hearing, 
arbitration proceeding or legal proceeding. 
 
3.1.7  Providing services of consultants other than contracted engineering services for the 
Project. 
 
3.1.8  Providing any other services not otherwise included in this Agreement or not customarily 
furnished in accordance with generally accepted engineering practice. 
 
3.2    Payment for Additional Services shall be as agreed upon in writing by both parties.  
Payment shall be based on a lump sum derived from a definitive scope of work developed by the 
Client and Engineer or on the basis of hourly rate and expenses.  Time charges shall be in 
accordance with the Engineer's Schedule of Hourly Rates, which is attached hereto and is a part 
of this Agreement.  Reimbursable Expenses are as defined in ARTICLE 4 of these General 
Conditions.  Payment for consultants other than the Engineer or services by others shall be paid 
for at 1.1 times their invoiced amount.  Payment for travel by Company or private vehicle shall 
be made at the rate of $0.55 per mile. 
 
 
 
 
 



GC 3 of 6                                     
4.     REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES. 
 
4.1   Reimbursable Expenses are in addition to the Compensation for Basic and Additional 
Services and include actual expenditures made by the Engineer and the Engineer's employees in 
the interest of Project for the expenses listed in the following Subparagraphs: 
 
4.1.1  Expense of transportation in connection with the Project; living expenses in connection 
with out-of-town travel; long distance communications; and fees paid for reviews or seeking 
approval of authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. 
                                                                                                   
4.1.2  Expense of reproductions, postage and handling of Drawings, Specifications, and other 
documents, excluding reproductions for the office use of the Engineer. 
 
4.1.3  Expense of data processing and photographic production techniques when used in 
connection with Additional Services. 
 
4.1.4  If authorized in advance by the Client, expenses of overtime work requiring higher than 
regular rates. 
 
4.1.5  Expense of renderings, models and mark-ups requested by the Client. 
 
4.1.6  Expense of any additional insurance coverage or limits, including professional liability 
insurance, requested by the Client in excess of that normally carried by the Engineer. 
 
5.     PAYMENT TO THE ENGINEER. 
 
5.1   Billing will be accomplished monthly with payment due upon receipt of the Engineer's 
invoice. Payment will be credited first to any interest owed to Engineer, and then to principal.  
Client recognizes that prompt payment of Engineer’s invoices is an essential aspect of the overall 
consideration Engineer requires for providing service to Client.  Client agrees to pay all charges 
not in dispute within 30 days of invoice date.  Any charges held to be in dispute shall be called to 
Engineer’s attention within ten days of receipt of Engineer’s invoice.  If Client contests an 
invoice, Client shall promptly advise Engineer of the specific basis for doing so, may withhold 
only that portion so contested, and must pay the undisputed portion. 
 
5.2 If the Client fails to make any payment due Engineer for services and expenses within 30 
days after receipt of Engineer’s invoice, then: 
 
5.2.1 Amounts due Engineer will be increased at the rate of 1.0% per month (or the maximum 
rate of interest permitted by law, if less) from said thirtieth day; and 
 
5.2.2 Engineer may, after giving seven days written notice to Client, suspend services under 
this Agreement until Client has paid in full all amounts due for services, expenses, and other 
related charges.  Client hereby waives any and all claims against Engineer for any such 
suspension. 



GC 4 of 6                                     
 
5.3 If after the Effective Date any government entity takes a legislative action that imposes 
taxes, fees or charges on Engineer’s services or compensation under this Agreement, then the 
Engineer may invoice such new taxes, fees, or charges as a Reimbursable Expense to which a 
factor of 1.0 shall be applied.  Client shall reimburse Engineer for the cost of such invoiced new 
taxes, fees, and charges; such reimbursement shall be in addition to the compensation to which 
Engineer is entitled under the original terms of this Agreement. 
 
6.     CONSTRUCTION COST. 
 
6.1   It is recognized that neither the Engineer nor the Client has control over the cost of labor, 
materials or equipment, over the Contractor's methods of determining bid prices, or over 
competitive bidding, market or negotiating conditions.  Accordingly, the Engineer cannot and 
does not warrant or represent that bids or negotiated prices will not vary from any Statement of 
Probable Construction Cost or other cost estimate or evaluation prepared by the Engineer. 
                                                                                                                         
7.     OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS. 

 
7.1    Drawings, Specifications, field data, notes, reports, calculations, test data, estimates and 
other documents as instruments of service are and shall remain the property of the Engineer 
whether the Project for which they are made is executed or not.  The Client shall be permitted to 
retain copies, including reproducible copies, of Drawings and Specifications for information and 
reference in connection with the Client's use and occupancy of the Project.  The Client shall also 
be permitted to retain electronic copies of all data, drawings, models, specifications and other 
documents that have been prepared in connection with specific projects.  The Client may utilize 
the aforementioned work products for which the Engineer has been paid.  Reuse of such data or 
information by the Client for any purpose other than that for which prepared shall be at the 
Client’s sole risk, and the Client agrees to defend and indemnify Engineer for all claims, 
damages, costs, and expenses arising out of such reuse by the Client. 
 
7.2 One set of deliverables including maps/prints/reports will be submitted for each project as 
appropriate.  Terms for provision of additional copies and other deliverable requirements will be 
established as part of each project scope of work.  Electronic copies of all deliverables will be 
made available to the Client if requested.  The exact file format of the deliverable will depend on 
the project goals and software utilized by the Engineer, and shall be coordinated with the Client 
as part of the project.  The Engineer shall retain these records for a period of two (2) years 
following their completion during which period additional paper copies and electronic files will 
be made available to the Client at reasonable times. 
 
7.3  Submission or distribution to meet official regulatory requirements or for other purposes 
in connection with the Project is not to be construed as publication in derogation of the 
Engineer`s rights. 
 
7.4 Only documents that are hard copies and have been signed and sealed by a representative 
of Engineer are documents of record for this project.  The documents of record have been 



GC 5 of 6                                     
produced for this project only and for a given time.  The documents are not to be used for any 
other project, or any other location, or and after two years beyond their date of issuance.  The use 
of these documents on other projects or at a time other than as stated may have an adverse effect.  
All other documents, including electronic files, are documents for information only and are not 
documents of record. 
 
8.     TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT. 
 
8.1   This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven days' written notice should 
the other party fail substantially to perform in accordance with its terms through no fault of the 
party initiating the termination. 
 
8.2   This Agreement may be terminated by the Client upon at least seven days' written notice 
to the Engineer in the event that the Project is permanently abandoned. 
 
8.3  In the event of termination not the fault of the Engineer, the Engineer shall be 
compensated for all services performed to termination date, together with Reimbursable 
Expenses then due. 
 
9.     ABANDONED OR SUSPENDED WORK. 
 
9.1   Nothing in this Agreement nor in any document, report or opinion of the Engineer shall 
infer or imply that the Engineer's Services will be furnished on a contingent basis. 
  
9.2   If the Project or any part thereof is abandoned or suspended in whole or in part by the 
Client for any reason other than for default by the Engineer, the Engineer shall be paid for all 
services performed prior to receipt of written notice from the Client of such abandonment or 
suspension. 
 
10. INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
10.1 The Engineer shall indemnify and hold the Client harmless from claims, liability, losses, 
and causes of action to the extent caused by any willful or negligent act, error, or omission of the 
Engineer, including those parties contracted by the Engineer as subcontractors, incidental to the 
performance of the Services under this Agreement. 
 
11.    LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. 
 
11.1  Work to be performed and services rendered by the Engineer under this Agreement are 
intended for the sole benefit of the Client.  Nothing herein shall confer any rights upon others or 
shall refer any duty on the part of the Engineer to any person or persons not a party to this 
agreement including, but not limited to, any contractor, sub-contractor, supplier, or any agent, 
employee, insurer, or surety of such person or persons. 
                                                                                                                               



GC 6 of 6                                     
11.2  The Engineer will not be responsible for and will not have control or charge of 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the Work, and he will not be responsible for the Contractor's failure 
to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or for the Contractor's failure 
to enforce safety requirements set forth by Federal, State and Local agencies.  The Engineer will 
not be responsible for or have control or charge over the acts or omissions of the Contractor, 
Subcontractors, or any of their agents or employees, or any other persons performing any of the 
Work. 
 
11.3 The Client agrees to limit the Engineer’s and its employees’ liability to the Client and to 
all construction Contractors and Subcontractors on the project, due to the Engineer’s negligent 
acts, errors, or omissions to meet the professional service standard of care requirements, such 
that the total aggregate liability of the Engineer to those named shall not exceed $2,000,000 and 
the per claim liability shall not exceed $1,000,000.  This Client standard liability cap shall apply 
to all projects under this agreement including associated addenda, and any change orders for 
specific projects.  This standard liability cap may be adjusted for distinct individual projects by 
mutual written consent of both parties as warranted by specific project conditions.   
 
11.4 Engineer, its principals, employees, agents or consultants shall perform no services 
relating to the investigation, detention, abatement, replacement, discharge, or removal of any 
toxic or hazardous contaminants or materials except as specifically provided for in the Letter 
Agreement.  The Engineer shall have no liability for claims arising out of the performance or 
failure to perform professional services related to the investigation, detection, abatement, 
replacement, discharge or removal of products, materials or processes containing asbestos or any 
other toxic or hazardous contaminants or materials (“Hazardous Materials”) except as 
specifically provided for in the Letter Agreement. 
 
12.    MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
 
12.1   This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the principal place of business of the 
Engineer. 
 
12.2  The Client and the Engineer, respectively, bind themselves, their partners, successors, 
assigns and legal representatives to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, 
successors, assigns and legal representatives of such party with respect to all covenants of this 
Agreement.  Neither the Client nor the Engineer shall assign, sublet or transfer any interest in 
this Agreement without the written consent of the other. 
 
12.3 This Agreement represents the entire and integrated agreement between the Client and 
the Engineer and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written 
or oral.  This Agreement may be amended only by written instrument signed by both Client and 
Engineer.       
 
Revised 3-10-16 



Hussey, Gay, Bell & DeYoung, Inc.
Consulting Engineers
Savannah, Georgia

SCHEDULE OF HOURLY RATES

Rate Effective 
01/2019

Principal Engineer 205.00 
Professional Engineer (Testimony and Preparation) 345.00 
Engineer V / Associate 185.00 
Engineer IV 170.00 
Engineer III 155.00 
Engineer II 150.00 
Engineer I 145.00 
Assistant Engineer 130.00 
Technician III 120.00 
Technician II 115.00 
Technician I 105.00 
Landscape Architect 140.00 
Senior Project Representative 110.00 
Project Representative 95.00 
Registered Land Surveyor III           165.00 
Registered Land Surveyor II 145.00 
Registered Land Surveyor I 130.00 
3-Man Survey Crew 175.00 
2-Man Survey Crew 165.00 
1-Man Survey Crew 145.00 
Senior Administrative 115.00 
Administrative 75.00 



 
 
 
 
   SCHEDULE OF REIMBURSABLE RATES 
               January 2019 
 
 REPRODUCTION COSTS PER PAGE: 
 
 Plan Sheets – Bond (B/W)                           . 
 11 x 17 / 12 x 18   $  0.60 
 24 x 36    $  1.50 
 30 x 42    $  2.15 
 
 Plan Sheets – Bond (Color - Line)              . 
 11 x 17 / 12 x 18   $  3.25 
 24 x 36    $24.00 
 30 x 42    $35.00 
 
 Plan Sheets – Bond (Color – Solid Fill)      . 
 11 x 17 / 12 x 18   $  4.75 
 24 x 36    $48.00 
 30 x 42    $70.00 
 
 Plan Sheets – Mylar (B/W)                         .. 
 24 x 36    $15.60 
 30 x 42    $22.75 
 
 Specifications (B/W)                                    . 
 8.5 x 11    $  0.20 
 
 CD / Flash Drives                           
 Actual costs including media costs  

 and staff time at standard rates 
 
 
   OVERNIGHT DELIVERY:  Cost + 10% 
 
   AUTO MILEAGE:  $0.54 per mile 
 
                                    AIRFARE:  Actual Cost  
                                    (Economy Class – Domestic; Business Class – Foreign) 
 
   ROOM & BOARD:   Actual Cost 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Jason Boyles 
     Assistant City Manager 
   
From: Steve Hotchkiss 
          Director of Public Utilities 
 
Date: 3/27/2023 
 
RE: Professional Services Agreement Hussy, Gay, Bell Engineering Inc. for Ramble                                                                       
Road Subdivision.                     
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to execute a Professional Services 
Agreement with Hussy, Gay, Bell Engineering, Inc. in the amount not to exceed 
$93,870.00 to provide design, bid, easement acquisition services and contract 
administration services for the extension of sanitary sewer service to the Ramble 
Road Subdivision. To be paid for with ARPA funds approved in CIP Project #32-E. 
 
Background: As part of the City’s plan to extend sewer into unserved areas that 
had been previously annexed the decision was made to initiate the process to 
install sewer mains in the Ramble Road Subdivision. Ramble Road Subdivision 
was annexed many years ago and has been served by City water but sewer 
however was never provided. It was identified several years ago as an area of 
concern, plans were prepared by HGB and have been sitting on the shelf 
waiting for funding. Originally the funding was to come from system revenues 
but due to the recent availability of American Recovery Plan Funds the decision 
was made to use those dollars to fund the expansion.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 City of Statesboro 
Public Utilities Department  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 
 
 
 The estimated cost to construct this project is $1,332,161.60, which is higher per 
lot than other projects we have done. This is mainly due to the fact that we will 
need to acquire 13 temporary and permanent easements to allow for the 
installation of new mains. Each will require a land survey, legal document 
preparation and final recording at the County Tax Office, all of which increased 
the budget for this project by an additional $42,350.00 
 
Once approval is given we will proceed to bid and construction as soon as 
possible.  
 
Budget Impact: This project was approved to be paid for with ARPA funds, in CIP 
Project #32-E 
 
Attachments: HGB Contract. 
 



 

 

March 14, 2023 

 
 
Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 
Director of Public Works 
City of Statesboro 
P.O. Box 348 
Statesboro, GA 30459 
 
RE: Proposal for Professional Services for the Ramble Road Sewer System 

 City of Statesboro, Georgia 

 
Dear Mr. Hotchkiss: 
 
We are pleased to present this proposal for professional services for the subject project.  The 
intent of the project is to provide sanitary sewer service to the Ramble Road Subdivision. The 
route of the proposed sanitary sewer will generally follow Ramble Road. The existing properties 
along Ramble Road are currently served by individual septic systems. The existing septic 
systems will be demolished and sewer laterals routed to connect to the proposed sanitary sewer 
system. The project will also include the demolition of the Timesaver and Eastview Apartments 
Lift Stations. The proposed sanitary sewer will discharge to an existing sewer which discharges 
to the existing Packinghouse Road Lift Station.  
 
Our fee for each scope of work is as follows: 
 
A.  SURVEYING SERVICES 

Hussey Gay Bell will use the survey performed in 2005 for this project. Additional 
locates will be required and included under this item for new structures installed post 
original survey.  The proposed gravity sewer will be installed within the City’s Right-of-
Way and in dedicated easements as necessary. 

  
LUMP SUM FEE $  2,500.00 

 

B. WETLAND SERVICES 
HGB will delineate wetlands along the project route and survey wetlands boundaries for 
the use in wetland permitting if necessary. HGB will prepare and submit national 
wetlands permitting applications as required.  

  
LUMP SUM FEE $  6,200.00 

 
 
 
 
 



Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 
City of Statesboro 
March 14, 2023 
Page 2 
 

  

C.  DESIGN SERVICES 
 HGB will prepare Construction Plans and Specifications for the proposed extension of 

the gravity sewer along the proposed route and demolition of the existing lift stations. 
Design will include all necessary civil, mechanical and electrical drawings and associated 
specifications.  

 
 LUMP SUM FEE $14,650.00 

 

D.  PERMITTING SERVICES 
 HGB will prepare permitting packages for submittal to permitting agencies. Permits from 

Georgia DOT, Georgia Soil and Water Conservation Commission and US Army Corps of 
Engineers are expected to be required for this project.   

 
LUMP SUM FEE $  6,670.00 

 

E. EASEMENT ACQUISITION SERVICES 
 The gravity sewer main alignment is expected to require three (3) permanent utility 

easements and twelve (12) temporary construction easements on thirteen (13) properties. 
HGB will subcontract with The Acquisition Group, Inc. to prepare easement appraisals and 
assist in acquisition negotiations. 

 
I. Easement Plats                              13 properties @ $350 each =  $  4,550.00 
II. Temporary Easement Appraisal   12 properties @ $900 each =  $10,800.00 
III. Permanent Easement Appraisal   3 properties @ $2,500 each =  $  7,500.00 
IV. Easement Acquisition                13 properties @ $1,500 each =  $19,500.00 

 

F. BIDDING SERVICES 
HGB will prepare bid packages necessary for contractor bidding of the project. HGB will 
assist in preparing a project advertisement, the distribution of bid documents, attending a 
pre-bid meeting, preparing addenda to respond to bidder questions, attending a bid 
opening, analyzing the bids received and a recommendation of award for the project.   
 
LUMP SUM FEE $ 6,500.00 

 
G. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 

Hussey Gay Bell’s construction administration services as needed on an hourly basis 
including contract preparation, attending a homeowners public meeting, attending a pre-
construction meeting, responding to Requests for Information (RFI’s), reviewing pay 
requests, reviewing shop drawings and preparing change orders, if necessary.  

  
HOURLY NOT-TO-EXCEED FEE $ 12,000.00 

 
 
 



Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 
City of Statesboro 
March 14, 2023 
Page 3 
 

  

H. PROJECT CLOSE-OUT AND RECORD DRAWINGS 
 HGB will complete project close-out documentation and provide record drawings for the 

project. 
 

LUMP SUM FEE $ 3,000.00 

 
The scope of services covered by this proposal does not include geotechnical or environmental 
services which are not expected to be required for this project. 
 
You will be billed each month for our services and for any reimbursable expenses as defined in 
the General Conditions. Invoices will be payable within 30 days of invoice date. This 
Agreement, along with the General Conditions, the Schedule of Hourly Rates and the Schedule 
of Reimbursable Expenses constitutes the entire contract between you and this firm and may 
only be modified by a written change order signed by both parties. Thank you for this 
opportunity to serve you.  
 
Sincerely, 
HUSSEY, GAY, BELL & DEYOUNG, INC. 
 
 
 
C.J. Chance, P.E. 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
 
ACCEPTED BY:_____________________________________DATE:________________ 
 
NAME AND TITLE:__________________________________ 
 
Attachments: General Conditions 
 Schedule of Hourly Rates 
 Schedule of Reimbursable Expenses 
 



GC 1 of 6                                     
                                                                  
                                                                      
                                                  GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
These GENERAL CONDITIONS are attached to and made a part of the Letter Agreement dated 

 between CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA (Client) and HUSSEY, 
GAY, BELL & DEYOUNG, INC. (Engineer) and pertain to the project described therein. 
 
1.     CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES. 
 
1.1   The Client shall make available access by the Engineer to public and private property as 
is required to perform such investigations as are appropriate to obtain data for development of 
the Project. 
 
1.2   The Client shall designate in writing a Representative for the work under this Agreement.  
The Client's Representative shall have complete authority to transmit the Client's instructions, 
policy and decisions pertaining to the project. 
 
1.3   The Client shall furnish, in writing, any limitations in the overall project budget.  This 
information shall be furnished at the beginning of the project. 
 
2.     ENGINEER'S RESPONSIBILITIES. 
 
2.1   Services performed by the Engineer under this agreement will be performed in a manner 
consistent with the standard of care exercised by other members of the profession currently 
engaged in similar work in the area and practicing under similar conditions.  No representation, 
either expressed or implied, or no guarantee or warranty is included or intended in this 
agreement. 
 
2.2   Based on the mutually accepted program of work and Project budget requirements, the 
Engineer will prepare, for approval by the Client, documents consisting of drawings and other 
documents appropriate for the Project, and shall also submit to the Client, if part of the Scope of 
Work,  a Statement of Probable Cost for the Project.  The Engineer will make every reasonable 
effort to perform services to accommodate the Client's budgetary limitations pertaining to total 
project construction cost.  However, such limitations will not be cause or reason to require the 
Engineer to furnish any product or instrument of service that is not consistent with the standard 
of care as described in Article 2.1. 
 
2.3    A change in scope of work, after the start of work, may influence the fees and the 
schedule as stated in this proposal.  Delay in providing information requested and/or review of 
documents in a reasonable amount of time is a change in the scope of work.  The Client will be 
notified, as soon as reasonably possible, when a change order has occurred.  The notification will 
include cost and design schedule impact.  The fee for changes in the scope of work will be per 
Article 3, Additional Services, in the General Conditions. 
 

March 14, 2023



GC 2 of 6                                     
3.     ADDITIONAL SERVICES. 
 
3.1  Additional services will be provided upon written agreement signed by both parties.  
Additional services shall be paid for by the Client as provided in these General Conditions in 
addition to the compensation for the services described in the Letter Agreement.  The following 
services, if not described in the Letter Agreement, shall be considered Additional Services: 
                                                                                                              
3.1.1  Providing a program study for the Project. 
 
3.1.2  Providing financial feasibility or other special studies. 
 
3.1.3  Providing planning  surveys,  site  evaluation, environmental studies or comparative 
studies of prospective sites, and preparing special surveys, studies and submissions, required for 
approvals of governmental authorities or others having jurisdiction over the Project. 
 
3.1.4  Providing coordination of Work performed by separate contractors or by the Client's own 
forces. 
 
3.1.5  Making revisions in Drawings, Specifications or other documents when such revisions 
are inconsistent with written approvals or instructions previously given, are required by the 
enactment or revision of codes, laws or regulations subsequent to the preparation of such docu-
ments or are due to other causes not solely within the control of the Engineer. 
 
3.1.6  Preparing to serve or serving as an expert witness in connection with any public hearing, 
arbitration proceeding or legal proceeding. 
 
3.1.7  Providing services of consultants other than contracted engineering services for the 
Project. 
 
3.1.8  Providing any other services not otherwise included in this Agreement or not customarily 
furnished in accordance with generally accepted engineering practice. 
 
3.2    Payment for Additional Services shall be as agreed upon in writing by both parties.  
Payment shall be based on a lump sum derived from a definitive scope of work developed by the 
Client and Engineer or on the basis of hourly rate and expenses.  Time charges shall be in 
accordance with the Engineer's Schedule of Hourly Rates, which is attached hereto and is a part 
of this Agreement.  Reimbursable Expenses are as defined in ARTICLE 4 of these General 
Conditions.  Payment for consultants other than the Engineer or services by others shall be paid 
for at 1.1 times their invoiced amount.  Payment for travel by Company or private vehicle shall 
be made at the rate of $0.55 per mile. 
 
 
 
 
 



GC 3 of 6                                     
4.     REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES. 
 
4.1   Reimbursable Expenses are in addition to the Compensation for Basic and Additional 
Services and include actual expenditures made by the Engineer and the Engineer's employees in 
the interest of Project for the expenses listed in the following Subparagraphs: 
 
4.1.1  Expense of transportation in connection with the Project; living expenses in connection 
with out-of-town travel; long distance communications; and fees paid for reviews or seeking 
approval of authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. 
                                                                                                   
4.1.2  Expense of reproductions, postage and handling of Drawings, Specifications, and other 
documents, excluding reproductions for the office use of the Engineer. 
 
4.1.3  Expense of data processing and photographic production techniques when used in 
connection with Additional Services. 
 
4.1.4  If authorized in advance by the Client, expenses of overtime work requiring higher than 
regular rates. 
 
4.1.5  Expense of renderings, models and mark-ups requested by the Client. 
 
4.1.6  Expense of any additional insurance coverage or limits, including professional liability 
insurance, requested by the Client in excess of that normally carried by the Engineer. 
 
5.     PAYMENT TO THE ENGINEER. 
 
5.1   Billing will be accomplished monthly with payment due upon receipt of the Engineer's 
invoice. Payment will be credited first to any interest owed to Engineer, and then to principal.  
Client recognizes that prompt payment of Engineer’s invoices is an essential aspect of the overall 
consideration Engineer requires for providing service to Client.  Client agrees to pay all charges 
not in dispute within 30 days of invoice date.  Any charges held to be in dispute shall be called to 
Engineer’s attention within ten days of receipt of Engineer’s invoice.  If Client contests an 
invoice, Client shall promptly advise Engineer of the specific basis for doing so, may withhold 
only that portion so contested, and must pay the undisputed portion. 
 
5.2 If the Client fails to make any payment due Engineer for services and expenses within 30 
days after receipt of Engineer’s invoice, then: 
 
5.2.1 Amounts due Engineer will be increased at the rate of 1.0% per month (or the maximum 
rate of interest permitted by law, if less) from said thirtieth day; and 
 
5.2.2 Engineer may, after giving seven days written notice to Client, suspend services under 
this Agreement until Client has paid in full all amounts due for services, expenses, and other 
related charges.  Client hereby waives any and all claims against Engineer for any such 
suspension. 



GC 4 of 6                                     
 
5.3 If after the Effective Date any government entity takes a legislative action that imposes 
taxes, fees or charges on Engineer’s services or compensation under this Agreement, then the 
Engineer may invoice such new taxes, fees, or charges as a Reimbursable Expense to which a 
factor of 1.0 shall be applied.  Client shall reimburse Engineer for the cost of such invoiced new 
taxes, fees, and charges; such reimbursement shall be in addition to the compensation to which 
Engineer is entitled under the original terms of this Agreement. 
 
6.     CONSTRUCTION COST. 
 
6.1   It is recognized that neither the Engineer nor the Client has control over the cost of labor, 
materials or equipment, over the Contractor's methods of determining bid prices, or over 
competitive bidding, market or negotiating conditions.  Accordingly, the Engineer cannot and 
does not warrant or represent that bids or negotiated prices will not vary from any Statement of 
Probable Construction Cost or other cost estimate or evaluation prepared by the Engineer. 
                                                                                                                         
7.     OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS. 

 
7.1    Drawings, Specifications, field data, notes, reports, calculations, test data, estimates and 
other documents as instruments of service are and shall remain the property of the Engineer 
whether the Project for which they are made is executed or not.  The Client shall be permitted to 
retain copies, including reproducible copies, of Drawings and Specifications for information and 
reference in connection with the Client's use and occupancy of the Project.  The Client shall also 
be permitted to retain electronic copies of all data, drawings, models, specifications and other 
documents that have been prepared in connection with specific projects.  The Client may utilize 
the aforementioned work products for which the Engineer has been paid.  Reuse of such data or 
information by the Client for any purpose other than that for which prepared shall be at the 
Client’s sole risk, and the Client agrees to defend and indemnify Engineer for all claims, 
damages, costs, and expenses arising out of such reuse by the Client. 
 
7.2 One set of deliverables including maps/prints/reports will be submitted for each project as 
appropriate.  Terms for provision of additional copies and other deliverable requirements will be 
established as part of each project scope of work.  Electronic copies of all deliverables will be 
made available to the Client if requested.  The exact file format of the deliverable will depend on 
the project goals and software utilized by the Engineer, and shall be coordinated with the Client 
as part of the project.  The Engineer shall retain these records for a period of two (2) years 
following their completion during which period additional paper copies and electronic files will 
be made available to the Client at reasonable times. 
 
7.3  Submission or distribution to meet official regulatory requirements or for other purposes 
in connection with the Project is not to be construed as publication in derogation of the 
Engineer`s rights. 
 
7.4 Only documents that are hard copies and have been signed and sealed by a representative 
of Engineer are documents of record for this project.  The documents of record have been 



GC 5 of 6                                     
produced for this project only and for a given time.  The documents are not to be used for any 
other project, or any other location, or and after two years beyond their date of issuance.  The use 
of these documents on other projects or at a time other than as stated may have an adverse effect.  
All other documents, including electronic files, are documents for information only and are not 
documents of record. 
 
8.     TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT. 
 
8.1   This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven days' written notice should 
the other party fail substantially to perform in accordance with its terms through no fault of the 
party initiating the termination. 
 
8.2   This Agreement may be terminated by the Client upon at least seven days' written notice 
to the Engineer in the event that the Project is permanently abandoned. 
 
8.3  In the event of termination not the fault of the Engineer, the Engineer shall be 
compensated for all services performed to termination date, together with Reimbursable 
Expenses then due. 
 
9.     ABANDONED OR SUSPENDED WORK. 
 
9.1   Nothing in this Agreement nor in any document, report or opinion of the Engineer shall 
infer or imply that the Engineer's Services will be furnished on a contingent basis. 
  
9.2   If the Project or any part thereof is abandoned or suspended in whole or in part by the 
Client for any reason other than for default by the Engineer, the Engineer shall be paid for all 
services performed prior to receipt of written notice from the Client of such abandonment or 
suspension. 
 
10. INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
10.1 The Engineer shall indemnify and hold the Client harmless from claims, liability, losses, 
and causes of action to the extent caused by any willful or negligent act, error, or omission of the 
Engineer, including those parties contracted by the Engineer as subcontractors, incidental to the 
performance of the Services under this Agreement. 
 
11.    LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. 
 
11.1  Work to be performed and services rendered by the Engineer under this Agreement are 
intended for the sole benefit of the Client.  Nothing herein shall confer any rights upon others or 
shall refer any duty on the part of the Engineer to any person or persons not a party to this 
agreement including, but not limited to, any contractor, sub-contractor, supplier, or any agent, 
employee, insurer, or surety of such person or persons. 
                                                                                                                               



GC 6 of 6                                     
11.2  The Engineer will not be responsible for and will not have control or charge of 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the Work, and he will not be responsible for the Contractor's failure 
to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or for the Contractor's failure 
to enforce safety requirements set forth by Federal, State and Local agencies.  The Engineer will 
not be responsible for or have control or charge over the acts or omissions of the Contractor, 
Subcontractors, or any of their agents or employees, or any other persons performing any of the 
Work. 
 
11.3 The Client agrees to limit the Engineer’s and its employees’ liability to the Client and to 
all construction Contractors and Subcontractors on the project, due to the Engineer’s negligent 
acts, errors, or omissions to meet the professional service standard of care requirements, such 
that the total aggregate liability of the Engineer to those named shall not exceed $2,000,000 and 
the per claim liability shall not exceed $1,000,000.  This Client standard liability cap shall apply 
to all projects under this agreement including associated addenda, and any change orders for 
specific projects.  This standard liability cap may be adjusted for distinct individual projects by 
mutual written consent of both parties as warranted by specific project conditions.   
 
11.4 Engineer, its principals, employees, agents or consultants shall perform no services 
relating to the investigation, detention, abatement, replacement, discharge, or removal of any 
toxic or hazardous contaminants or materials except as specifically provided for in the Letter 
Agreement.  The Engineer shall have no liability for claims arising out of the performance or 
failure to perform professional services related to the investigation, detection, abatement, 
replacement, discharge or removal of products, materials or processes containing asbestos or any 
other toxic or hazardous contaminants or materials (“Hazardous Materials”) except as 
specifically provided for in the Letter Agreement. 
 
12.    MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
 
12.1   This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the principal place of business of the 
Engineer. 
 
12.2  The Client and the Engineer, respectively, bind themselves, their partners, successors, 
assigns and legal representatives to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, 
successors, assigns and legal representatives of such party with respect to all covenants of this 
Agreement.  Neither the Client nor the Engineer shall assign, sublet or transfer any interest in 
this Agreement without the written consent of the other. 
 
12.3 This Agreement represents the entire and integrated agreement between the Client and 
the Engineer and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written 
or oral.  This Agreement may be amended only by written instrument signed by both Client and 
Engineer.       
 
Revised 3-10-16 



Hussey, Gay, Bell & DeYoung, Inc.
Consulting Engineers
Savannah, Georgia

SCHEDULE OF HOURLY RATES

Rate Effective 
01/2019

Principal Engineer 205.00 
Professional Engineer (Testimony and Preparation) 345.00 
Engineer V / Associate 185.00 
Engineer IV 170.00 
Engineer III 155.00 
Engineer II 150.00 
Engineer I 145.00 
Assistant Engineer 130.00 
Technician III 120.00 
Technician II 115.00 
Technician I 105.00 
Landscape Architect 140.00 
Senior Project Representative 110.00 
Project Representative 95.00 
Registered Land Surveyor III           165.00 
Registered Land Surveyor II 145.00 
Registered Land Surveyor I 130.00 
3-Man Survey Crew 175.00 
2-Man Survey Crew 165.00 
1-Man Survey Crew 145.00 
Senior Administrative 115.00 
Administrative 75.00 



 
 
 
 
   SCHEDULE OF REIMBURSABLE RATES 
               January 2019 
 
 REPRODUCTION COSTS PER PAGE: 
 
 Plan Sheets – Bond (B/W)                           . 
 11 x 17 / 12 x 18   $  0.60 
 24 x 36    $  1.50 
 30 x 42    $  2.15 
 
 Plan Sheets – Bond (Color - Line)              . 
 11 x 17 / 12 x 18   $  3.25 
 24 x 36    $24.00 
 30 x 42    $35.00 
 
 Plan Sheets – Bond (Color – Solid Fill)      . 
 11 x 17 / 12 x 18   $  4.75 
 24 x 36    $48.00 
 30 x 42    $70.00 
 
 Plan Sheets – Mylar (B/W)                         .. 
 24 x 36    $15.60 
 30 x 42    $22.75 
 
 Specifications (B/W)                                    . 
 8.5 x 11    $  0.20 
 
 CD / Flash Drives                           
 Actual costs including media costs  

 and staff time at standard rates 
 
 
   OVERNIGHT DELIVERY:  Cost + 10% 
 
   AUTO MILEAGE:  $0.54 per mile 
 
                                    AIRFARE:  Actual Cost  
                                    (Economy Class – Domestic; Business Class – Foreign) 
 
   ROOM & BOARD:   Actual Cost 



 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

MEMORANDUM 
 

DATE:  March 28, 2023 
TO:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
FROM:  Kathleen Field, Director of Planning and Development 
RE:  Recommendation for Consultant for Long-Range Transportation Plan 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The City of Statesboro and Bulloch County have accepted proposals from qualified professional 
consultants for the purpose of updating the 2009 Statesboro-Bulloch County Long Range Transportation 
Plan. On January 19, 2023, four proposals were received. It was determined that each firm met the basic 
requirements of the “Request for Proposal”. The RFP review team, consisting of seven Bulloch County 
and three City of Statesboro staff members, reviewed each proposal independently and scored 
proposals according to the following criteria: methods and approach, capability and qualifications, 
schedule, and price. Upon scoring and summary, the committee requested oral interviews with each of 
the four contractors. Interviews were held Monday, February 13th and Tuesday, February 14th. Following 
the interviews, the review team scored the proposals for a second time, then reconciled tangible and 
intangible factors to select a finalist. 
 
Based on the strength of the interviews (which were very close) and the price proposals (which are 
competitive) we are recommending the selection of Goodwyn Mills Cawood and approval to allow staff 
to enter into negotiations with the firm to finalize the project’s budget and scope. 
 
Both the City of Statesboro and Bulloch County have budgeted $200,000 each toward this project 
($400,000 maximum total). If consultant selection is approved, once negotiations have been completed 
a final agreement and contract amount will be provided for approval by City Council. 
 
 

VENDOR SUBMITTALS 
 

• Goodwyn Mills Cawood 
• Atlas 
• Croy 
• WSP 

 



 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: March 16, 2023 
TO: Board of Commissioners 
FROM: James Pope, AICP 
CC: Tom Couch, CM 
RE: Recommendation for Long Range Transportation Plan Planning Contractor 
 
The Bulloch County Board of Commissioners, on behalf of the City of Statesboro and Bulloch County, have 
accepted proposals from qualified professional consultants for the purpose of updating the 2009 
Statesboro-Bulloch County Long Range Transportation Plan. On January 19th, 2023, 4 proposals were 
received; it was determined each firm met the basic requirements of the Request for Proposal. The RFP 
review team, consisting of seven Bulloch County and three City of Statesboro staff members, reviewed 
each proposal independently and scored proposals according to the following criteria: methods & 
approach, capability & qualifications, schedule, price proposal. Upon scoring and summary, the 
committee requested oral interviews with each of the four contractors. Interviews were held Monday, 
February 13th, and Tuesday February 14th. Following the interviews, the review team scored the proposals 
for a second time, then reconciled tangible and intangible factors to select a finalist.  
 
Based on the strength of the interviews (which were very close), and the price proposals (which are 
competitive) we are recommending the selection of Goodwin Mills Cawood. Please remember this 
approval will allow staff to enter negotiations with the firm to finalize the project budget and scope. 
 
 

Vendor Submittals 
 

Goodwin Mills Cawood  
Atlas 
Croy 
WSP 

 
Review Team 

Bulloch County City of Statesboro 
        Tom Couch, ICMA-CM, AICP         Kathy Fields  
        Cindy Steinmann         John Washington, PE 
        James Pope, AICP         David Moyer, PE 
        Brad Deal, PE  
        Randy Newman  
        David Campbell  

 













































































Statesboro Fire Department 
Proudly serving the City of Statesboro and 

surrounding communities since 1905! 
 

   

24 West Grady Street | Statesboro, GA 30458 
Phone: (912) 764-3473 | Fax: (912) 681-7205 

 

Timothy E. Grams 
Fire Chief 

Jonathan M. McCollar 
Mayor 

City Council Agenda Memorandum 
 
To: Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From: Timothy E. Grams, Fire Chief 
 
Date: 3-28-23 
 
RE: Vehicle Purchase  
 
Policy Issue: NA    
 
Recommendation: To allow the Statesboro Fire Department to purchase 2023 Ford Explorer from 
Woody Folsom Ford for a price not to exceed $55,000.00. 
 
Background: The Statesboro Fire Department desires to purchase a 2023 Ford Explorer as part of the 
Department’s vehicle replacement program.  The base amount for this vehicle is $45,800.00.  The 
remaining funding will be utilized for upfitting the vehicle with safety and communication equipment. 

Five (5) other dealerships were contacted (listed below) with Woody Folsom Ford being the only one 
with a vehicle that satisfied the Fire Department’s criteria.   

1. Alan Vigel Ford (State Contract) none available - unknown when they would be able to order.  
2. Wade Ford (State Contract) none available – unknown when additional vehicles would be available. 
3. Metter Ford.  No vehicles matching our criteria.  No ETA of vehicles arriving. 
4. J.C. Lewis Ford.  Only vehicle available is a higher trim package at $51,865.00 
5. Swainsboro Ford.  None Available.   
 
Budget Impact: This purchase will utilize funds from the 2013 SPLOST.  The City’s Finance Director 
has verified the availability of these funds. 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: None 
  


	04-04-2023 Council Agenda
	2023 Child abuse prevention month - April
	03-21-2023 Council Minutes
	03-21-2023_2006_ChevyImpala_Surplus
	Blue Mile Wine & Spirits
	Blue Mile Wine & Spirits Memo
	Blue Mile Catering Memo 2 (1)

	Blue Mile Wine & Spirits App
	Blue Mile Wine & Spirits Approvals

	AMC Stateaboro 12
	Blue Mile Pizza
	Aspen Aerogels Extension
	Profession Service 3-27-23 Aspen Aerogels
	Aspen Aerogels Extension Proposal

	Ramble Road Sewer
	Profession Service Agreement Ramble Rd 3-27-23
	Ramble Road Sewer Proposal 03-14-23

	Transportation Master Plan - Bulloch County
	Transportation Master Plan Memo - kf
	Transportation Master Plan - Bulloch County (1)
	lrtp commission memo
	AppendixA_D


	Memo-Purchase of 23 Ford Explorer-3-28-23



